IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case No. SC07-1071

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

ANN BITTERMAN,

The Florida Bar File No. 2007-70,509(11G-OSC)

Respondent/Appellee.

____/

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF ON APPEAL

JENNIFER R. FALCONE MOORE Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 624284 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 200999 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Florida Bar No. 123390 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On September 23, 2004, Respondent was suspended from the practice of law for ninety-one (91) days and placed on probation for three years in The Florida Bar v. Ann Bitterman, Supreme Court Case No. SC03-1370. (ROR at 2.) Pursuant to Rule 3-5.1(e) of the Rules, a suspension of more than ninety (90) days requires proof of rehabilitation by the Respondent. As yet, Respondent has not petitioned for reinstatement as provided in Rule 3-7.10 of the Rules and remains suspended from the practice of law. (ROR at 2.) Respondent, therefore, is precluded from engaging in the practice of law, or holding herself out as a member in good standing of The Florida Bar. (ROR at 3.)

On May 20, 2006, Respondent went to the Miami Dade County Women's Detention Center to visit a personal friend named Zadis Fernandez who was incarcerated there at that time. (ROR at 3; TR at 44.) Respondent's name appears on the Detention Center's visitor's log for May 20, 2006, with her occupation listed as "attorney". (TR at 45-46; TFB Ex. 6.) At the jail, Respondent identified herself as an attorney, there to visit Ms. Fernandez, and presented her Florida Bar Card as identification. (ROR at 3; TR at 100.) The visitor's log lists Respondent's "pass number" as "I.D.," indicating that she showed her Bar Card as her attorney identification. (TR at 51; TFB Ex. 6.) Detention Center procedures require an attorney to be admitted only by showing the Florida Bar Identification Card. (TR

at 46.) By showing her Bar Card, Respondent gained immediate access to Ms. Fernandez in a private room, in accordance with the privileges reserved for attorneys visiting clients or witnesses in jail. (ROR at 3; TR at 100-101.) Respondent testified that she showed her Bar Card because she did not want to wait to see Ms. Fernandez and she wanted "contact" because Ms. Fernandez was her friend. (TR at 101.)

Additionally, when Ms. Fernandez initially was arrested the police seized her automobile and impounded it at Diaz Towing, 760 NW 21st St., Miami, FL. (ROR at 3; TR at 45.) At this time the title to the car was in Ms. Fernandez's name, although some time beforehand Respondent had purchased the car for her. (TR at 105.) When Respondent visited Ms. Fernandez at the Detention Center, she brought with her a lease agreement that she had prepared for the vehicle, which she wanted Ms. Fernandez to sign. (ROR at 3; TR at 44, 119; TFB Ex. 10.) Ms. Fernandez, however, refused to sign the lease agreement. (ROR at 3; TR at 45.) Respondent testified that Ms. Fernandez was hysterical and distraught at the notion that Respondent would take the car from her. (TR at 114-115, 117.)

Despite Ms. Fernandez' refusal to sign the lease, Respondent immediately went to Diaz Towing, with the express purpose of retrieving Ms. Fernandez' car. (ROR at 3; TR at 108.) In order to retrieve the car, Respondent represented to Diaz Towing that she was Ms. Fernandez' attorney, and again showed her Florida

Bar Card along with her Driver's License to verify her claim. (ROR at 3; TR at 45, 113, 124; TFB Ex. 7.) Thereupon, Diaz Towing released the car to Respondent. (ROR at 3; TR at 116.)

Pursuant to its investigation of this matter, the Bar's staff investigator, Mr. Art Gill, interviewed officials at Diaz Towing. Diaz Towing confirmed that they released the vehicle to Respondent because they believed her to be Ms. Fernandez' attorney. (TR at 56.) Diaz Towing further stated that they would not have released the vehicle to Respondent had she not told them she was Ms. Fernandez' attorney. (TR at 57.)

Upon retrieving the automobile from Diaz Towing, against the express wishes of the vehicle owner, Respondent exercised a power of attorney to re-title the vehicle in her own name. (ROR at 4; TR at 114, 117.) Respondent obtained the power of attorney from Ms. Fernandez two weeks prior to her arrest, but did not use it to retrieve the vehicle from Diaz Towing. (TR at 116, 124, 142.) Ms. Fernandez was later required to file a Replevin action against Respondent in order to re-gain possession of the automobile. (ROR at 4; TR at 115, 117.)¹

1

Additionally, a complaint was filed with the Bar by Ms. Modesta Diaz in November 2006 alleging that Respondent agreed to represent Ms. Diaz in a divorce and immigration matter in exchange for Ms. Diaz' payment for work to be performed at her home. (ROR at 4; TR at 19, 21.) Further, Respondent and Ms. Claudia Bran, another friend of Respondent's, exchanged email conversations regarding potential legal issues on April 29, 2005. (TR at 67.) The Referee found Respondent not guilty of the offenses, and therefore they are not discussed in this

On June 8, 2007, the Bar filed a Petition for Contempt and Order to Show Cause with this Court. By order of the Court dated June 12, 2007, Respondent was commanded to show cause on or before June 27, 2007, why she should not be held in contempt of Court for practicing law in violation of this Court's order issued in Florida Bar v. Bitterman, 885 So.2d 388 (Fla. 2004). By another order of this Court dated November 29, 2007, the Chief Judge of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit was directed to appoint a Referee to preside over these proceedings. On December 13, 2007, the Honorable Edward Newman was appointed Referee.

The final hearing in this cause occurred on December 3, 2008. The Referee heard testimony from Art Gill on behalf of the Florida Bar, and from Respondent in her own behalf. The Referee rendered his oral ruling on the same date. The Report of Referee was entered on December 8, 2008, and the Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review on February 6, 2009.

The Referee found Respondent in contempt of this Court's order of suspension dated September 23, 2004, for her actions in holding herself out as a lawyer in good standing, and proffering her Florida Bar Card to the local jail and officials at Diaz Towing, in order to gain entry, access, and possession of the vehicle, in accordance with a lawyer's privilege. (ROR at 4; TR at 132-133, 135, 146.)

brief. (ROR at 4-5.)

With respect to aggravation, the Referee found that Respondent had prior disciplinary offenses; that she had a dishonest or selfish motive; that there was a pattern of misconduct; that there was a refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct; and that there was vulnerability of the victims. (ROR at 8.) Respondent's prior disciplinary history is extensive, and includes: a thirty (30) day suspension with three years probation in 1996, Supreme Court Case No. SC87244; an admonishment for minor misconduct by the Eleventh Circuit Grievance Committee "G" in 1997; a ninety (90) day suspension and three years probation in 1999, Supreme Court Case No. SC94471; a public reprimand in 2001, Supreme Court Case No. SC00-2286; a ninety-one (91) day suspension and three years probation on September 23, 2004, Supreme Court Case No. SC03-1370; a ninetyone (91) day suspension and three years probation in 2007 effective nunc pro tunc September 23, 2004, Supreme Court Case No. SC06-1592; and a six month suspension in 2008 for contempt of this Court's 2004 order of suspension, Supreme Court Case No. SC06-957. (ROR at 7; TFB Ex. 9.)

In mitigation, the Referee found that Respondent has personal or emotional problems, a physical or mental disability or impairment, and interim rehabilitation. (ROR at 8.) It should be noted, however, that although not set forth in the Report of Referee, the Referee states on the record that he believes that Respondent still has some affectations from her medical condition and that he has a responsibility

as a referee to point that out to the Bar, and that the Bar has a licensing obligation to protect the public. (TR at 126.) The Referee additionally considered the personal relationship between Respondent and Ms. Fernandez as a mitigating factor, as well as Respondent's assertions that she was attempting to prevent harm to Ms. Fernandez when she retrieved the car from the towing/impound lot. (ROR at 8.) However, again it should be noted that while not included in the Report of Referee, the Referee states on the record that Respondent has an almost "masochistic love" for her clients in that she will hurt herself in order to help them, and that this is a cause for concern. (TR at 128.)

The Florida Bar urged the Referee to recommend to this Court that Respondent be disbarred for her contemptuous misconduct. The Referee denied the request of the Florida Bar, and initially recommended that Respondent receive a ninety-one (91) day rehabilitative suspension with three years probation. A condition of the probation was that Respondent's attorney become a supervisor for Respondent should she successfully petition to be reinstated. (TR at 149.) However, upon the renewed pleas of Respondent, and without further explanation, the Referee changed his recommended discipline to a thirty (30) day non-rehabilitative suspension with the same three year probationary period and conditions of probation. (ROR at 6-7; TR at 159.)

The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review on February 6, 2009. The Bar

sought and secured an extension of time for the filing of its Initial Brief on Appeal.

The Florida Bar's Initial Brief on Appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommendation of a thirty day non-rehabilitation suspension in this matter is contrary to existing case law. Relevant case law establishes that disbarment is the appropriate discipline for Respondent, where she deliberately and intentionally held herself out as an attorney in good standing in order to commit a fraud, and where she has previously been found in contempt of court for violations of suspension and has an extensive disciplinary history.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A NON- REHABILITATIVE SUSPENSION DOES NOT COMPORT WITH EXISTING CASELAW.

The Referee's recommendation of a thirty day non-rehabilitation suspension in this matter has no reasonable basis in existing case law, and should be rejected by this Court. The appropriate sanction for Respondent, where she held herself out as an attorney in good standing in order to gain the privileges of an attorney, and further to facilitate a fraudulent transaction, coupled with her extensive prior disciplinary history, is disbarment.

"The Supreme Court shall have exclusive jurisdiction to regulate...the discipline of persons admitted [to the practice of law]." Art. V, §15, Fla. Const. Therefore, "unlike the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt, the determination of the appropriate discipline is peculiarly in the province of this Court's authority." The Florida Bar v. O'Connor, 945 So.2d 1113, 1120 (Fla. 2006). As ultimately it is this Court's responsibility to order the appropriate punishment, this Court enjoys broad latitude in reviewing a referee's recommendation. The Florida Bar v. Anderson, 538 So.2d 852 (Fla. 1989). The Court usually will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law and in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The Florida Bar v. Temmer, 753 So.2d

555 (Fla. 1999). Here, the recommended discipline has no reasonable basis in existing case law, and the Referee's recommendation should be rejected.

"A suspended attorney, although still a member of The Florida Bar, is without the privilege of practicing or holding himself out to the public and others as able to practice." The Florida Bar v. Breed, 368 So.2d 356, 357 (Fla. 1979). In the instant case, the thirty day non-rehabilitation suspension recommended by the Referee is not commensurate with Respondent's blatant misconduct. The Referee found by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent held herself out as an attorney in good standing at the county jail when she identified herself as an attorney who was there to visit with an inmate, Ms. Zadis Fernandez, and presented her Florida Bar identification card for the specific purpose of gaining speedy access to her friend, and so that she could meet with her in a private room, in accordance with the privileges of an attorney. More egregiously, following Ms. Fernandez's outright refusal to grant her any ownership interest in Fernandez's vehicle, Respondent then proceeded to Diaz Towing, where the vehicle had been impounded, and again held herself out as an attorney in good standing and again presented her Florida Bar identification card in order to fraudulently take possession of the vehicle that Ms. Fernandez had denied her. completed the fraudulent transaction by exercising a power of attorney to re-title the vehicle in her own name. Such glaring misconduct is at odds with the thirty

day non-rehabilitation suspension recommended by the Referee. Respondent should be disbarred by this Court.

Moreover, separate and distinct from the egregious nature of the misconduct at issue, this Court must reject the Referee's non-rehabilitation suspension recommendation because Respondent was already suspended from the practice of law at the time she engaged in this misconduct. This Court has previously held that when a suspended attorney violates this Court's order of suspension and is held in contempt for said misconduct, at least a rehabilitative suspension will be imposed on the offending attorney for that misconduct, standing alone. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Brigman</u>, 322 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1975), and <u>The Florida Bar v. Forrester</u>, 916 So.2d 647 (Fla. 2005).

Therefore, consistent with this Court's prior jurisprudence, the minimum discipline that could be considered is a rehabilitative suspension. However, this Court must also consider Respondent's extensive prior disciplinary history, that she has been found in contempt of this Court's order on at least one prior occasion, as well as the reprehensible nature of the misconduct at issue in the present case. Taking all of these factors into consideration, it is clear that disbarment is the only appropriate sanction in this matter.

Furthermore, the purpose of contempt proceedings brought against an attorney for violation of an existing disciplinary order, separate and distinct from

the purposes behind lawyer discipline generally, is to punish the offending attorney and to vindicate the authority of the Supreme Court to discipline Florida attorneys. The Florida Bar v. Forrester, 916 So.2d 647, 651 (Fla. 2005). In the instant contempt proceeding, the Referee's recommended thirty day non-rehabilitative suspension does not serve these purposes, especially in light of the fact that this is the second occasion upon which Respondent has been found in contempt of this Court's 2004 order of suspension. This Court has found that disbarment is the appropriate sanction under these circumstances. See The Florida Bar v. Gussow, 520 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1988) (Disbarment, rather than a rehabilitative suspension, is the appropriate sanction for a lawyer who is found in contempt of this Court's order); see also The Florida Bar v. Jones, 571 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1990) and The Florida Bar v. Bauman, 558 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1990).

Finally, in determining the appropriate discipline, this Court considers a respondent's prior misconduct and cumulative misconduct, and punishes cumulative misconduct more severely than isolated instances of misconduct. Disbarment is appropriate where there is a pattern of misconduct and a history of discipline. The Florida Bar v. Walkden, 950 So.2d 407, 410 (Fla. 2007), quoting The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 2000). In Walkden, an attorney was suspended for ninety (90) days in 2002. Respondent violated the terms of this suspension, and agreed to be further suspended for ninety-one (91) days in lieu of

the Bar bringing a formal contempt proceeding. When respondent violated the terms of this second suspension, he was found in contempt by this court and suspended for one year. Walkden failed to notify anyone of this suspension and further held himself out as an attorney in good standing, in violation of the terms of the suspension. Walkden was again found in contempt and, noting the cumulative misconduct, this Court ordered him to be disbarred. The disciplinary sanctions against Walkden became progressively harsher with each subsequent finding of misconduct.

Likewise, Respondent in the instant case should also be disbarred. Like Walkden, Respondent has been found in contempt of this Court's order of suspension on two occasions. Like Walkden, Respondent was found in contempt for holding herself out as an attorney in good standing. Respondent's disciplinary history exceeds that of the respondent in Walkden. Respondent has been disciplined on seven separate occasions over twelve years. Her suspensions, of which there have been five, have become progressively more severe; beginning with a thirty (30) day suspension in 1996, progressing to a ninety (90) day suspension in 1999, to two ninety-one (91) day suspensions in 2004 and 2007, and finally to a six month suspension in 2008 after being found in contempt of this Court's 2004 order of suspension. Therefore, following the precedent set forth in Walkden, Respondent's sanction in the instant case should reflect her lengthy

disciplinary history and cumulative misconduct. Respondent should be disbarred. See also, The Florida Bar v. Forrester, 916 So.2d 647 (Fla. 2005) (In light of respondent's extensive prior disciplinary history, which ranged from a public reprimand to a ninety day suspension, disbarment was the appropriate sanction for finding of contempt of Court's order of suspension); The Florida Bar v. Greene, 589 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1991) (Court held that disbarment was proper sanction for attorney where further suspension after finding of contempt of suspension order would be fruitless because of respondent's history of disciplinary violations); and The Florida Bar v. Bauman, 558 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1990) ("We can think of no person less likely to be rehabilitated than someone like respondent, who willfully, deliberately, and continuously, refuses to abide by an order of this Court.").

In the instant case, Respondent has been found in contempt of court for holding herself out as an attorney in good standing in violation of this court's order, along with numerous aggravating factors. Specifically, the Referee found the following aggravating factors to be present: 9.22(a) (prior disciplinary offenses), 9.22(b) (dishonest or selfish motive), 9.22(c) (a pattern of misconduct), 9.22(g) (refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct), and 9.22(h) (vulnerability of victims). However, the Referee's recommended discipline does not reflect either the egregious nature of the misconduct at issue, or the numerous factors found in aggravation of the offense. These factors clearly outweigh any

mitigation present in the case. The Referee's recommended discipline has no reasonable basis in existing case law. Disbarment is the appropriate discipline for Respondent.

CONCLUSION

In consideration of this Court's broad discretion as to discipline and based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court reject the Referee's recommended discipline of thirty days and impose instead disbarment.

JENNIFER R. FALCONE MOORE Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 624284 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 200999 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Florida Bar No. 123390 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (850) 561-5600