## Supreme Court of Florida

\_\_\_\_\_

CASE NO. SC07-1071 Florida Bar File No. 2007-70,509 (11G-OSC)

\_\_\_\_\_

#### THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

v.

#### ANN BITTERMAN,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF REFEREE

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

\_\_\_\_

ROY D. WASSON
WASSON & ASSOCIATES, CHARTERED
Suite 600 Courthouse Plaza
28 West Flagler Street
Miami, FL 33130
(305) 666-5053 Telephone
(305) 666-9411 Facsimile
roy@wassonandassociates.com

Counsel for Respondent

## **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the Referee's Recommended Discipline because the Respondent was found to have committed only a technical violation that caused no harm and was not similar to a prior violation. Standard 8.1 of the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provides that disbarment is appropriate under two circumstances. One is where the lawyer intentionally violates the terms of a prior disciplinary order and such violation causes injury to another. The second situation is

where the lawyer has been suspended for similar acts of misconduct and later engages in further similar misconduct. Neither of those circumstances are present here.

Ann Bitterman has been found by the Referee to be "not an evil person and [someone who] does not willingly cause harm to anybody." She is an intelligent attorney who has been tormented by mental illness now under control, but which contributed to her prior disciplinary record. Committing a technical violation of a prior suspension order by showing a Florida Bar card on two occasions was found by the Referee not to constitute the practice of law, and that conduct does not warrant disbarment.

Nor do the other aggravating factors found by the Referee support disbarment. Ms. Bitterman's motive in using her Florida Bar card was the result of a personal relationship between herself and Zadis Fernandez, "not the act of an attorney against a client" in the words of the Referee. Further, the Referee correctly considered Ms. Bitterman's testimony "that she was attempting to prevent harm to Ms. Fernandez" when she used her Bar card to retrieve the automobile from the towing yard.

The aggravating factor of a "pattern of misconduct" was erroneously found.

There were only two acts of showing her Bar card. The courts have held that two offenses do not establish a pattern of activity.

The final aggravating factor found by the Referee, refusal to acknowledge the

wrongful nature of her conduct, was balanced by the fact that Ms. Bitterman acts out of a "level of humanism . . . that rises to the level of love" according to the Referee. Ms. Bitterman made a simple error of judgment out of love, not out of the inability to discern right from wrong. Therefore, disbarment is inappropriate and the recommended sanction should be adopted.

## **ARGUMENT**

THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE AS RESPONDENT WAS FOUND ONLY TO HAVE COMMITTED A TECHNICAL VIOLATION THAT CAUSED NO HARM AND WAS NOT SIMILAR TO A PRIOR VIOLATION

#### A. Introduction:

The referee's recommendation as to discipline should be affirmed because Ms. Bitterman was found to have committed, at most, a technical violation of the prior order of suspension. "This Court usually will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law and in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions." *The Florida Bar v. Cueto*, 834 So. 2d 152, 156 (Fla. 2002). There is such a reasonable basis here because the violation caused no harm, and because Ms. Bitterman had not been suspended for the same or similar misconduct.

## **B.** Applicable Legal Standards:

The Bar curiously fails to cite the section of the controlling standards<sup>2</sup> applicable to a case of this nature. These contempt proceedings were instituted as a result of Ms. Bitterman's alleged violation of a prior discipline order. Section 8.0 of the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, entitled "Prior Discipline Orders," provides the starting place—before consideration of aggravating or mitigating factors—to determine the appropriate sanction for a violation of prior disciplinary orders.

Standard 8.1 provides for two sets of circumstances in which disbarment is appropriate for violation of a prior disciplinary order, absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances. Standard 8.1(a) recognizes the propriety of disbarment where the lawyer "intentionally violates the terms of a prior disciplinary order and such violation causes injury to a client, the public, the legal system, or the profession." Standard 8.1(b) provides that disbarment is proper when the lawyer "has been suspended for the same or similar misconduct, and intentionally engages in further similar acts of misconduct." Neither of those sets of circumstances are present here.

This case is similar to *The Florida Bar v. Neckman*, 616 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1993) in which this Court rejected the Bar's request to disbar the respondent, an attorney

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This Court has approved the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and frequently held that attorney discipline should be meted out in accordance with those standards. *See*, *e.g.*, *The Florida Bar v. Dove*, 985 So. 2d 1001 (Fla. 2008).

who had resigned his license in connection with prior disciplinary proceedings. In the later matter, "Neckman had represented himself to be an attorney in connection with a debt collection matter after the date his resignation had been effective. . . [and] may have violated a statute during this conduct." *Id.* at 32.

In imposing a public reprimand upon Neckman, this Court held as follows:

[W]e cannot agree that disbarment is appropriate. Disbarment would be appropriate where the violation results in injury or is an intentional repetition of prior misconduct for which discipline has been imposed. Fla. Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 8.1. The referee's findings do not establish either of these factors, and in fact disclose that they were entirely absent here.

Id.

Similarly here, Ms. Bitterman was not found to be guilty of repeating prior misconduct for which discipline had been imposed. Just like Mr. Neckman, she never previously had been charged with holding herself out as an attorney during a period of ineligibility to practice.

Nor did any injury befall anyone as a result of her actions. She did not render legal advice to anyone. She did not harm the public in any way. Her action in showing her Florida Bar card reduced harm by allowing Ms. Fernandez's car to be released to her by the impounding lot, rather than forfeited to pay storage charges.

It should be noted that the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions recognize a difference between "injury" and "potential injury." See definitions 1. and 5. Thus,

even if it could be said that Ms. Bitterman's action in showing her Bar card caused "potential injury," that would be insufficient to warrant disbarment under Standard 8.1(a).

## C. The Bar's Authorities Do Not Support Disbarment of Respondent:

The cases cited by The Bar in support of the proposition that disbarment is required do not support disbarment of Ms. Bitterman because they are distinguishable on their facts. In The Florida Bar v. Gussow, 520 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 1988), the discipline of disbarment was appropriate for a variety of reasons not present here. First, disbarment was appropriate there because the respondent attorney had entered into a consent judgment agreeing to that sanction. Second, disbarment was appropriate in Gussow because "the Respondent had willfully failed to abide by the previously entered order of temporary suspension," whereas Ms. Bitterman was not guilty of a willful violation, but merely a technical violation. Third, the Respondent in the Gussow case already had been disbarred at the time of the imposition of discipline in the latest case. The disbarment was "concurrent discipline to that recommended" in the earlier case, meaning that there was no additional discipline imposed in the latest contempt proceeding. Fourth, disbarment was appropriate in the Gussow case because clients had been "harmed by Respondent's misconduct, including The Florida Bar's Clients' Security Fund." *Id.* at 581. No such client harm occurred in this case.

This case is much different from *The Florida Bar v. Jones*, 571 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 1990). In *Jones*, the "Respondent failed to comply with this Court's suspension order by engaging in the practice of law on numerous occasions after the effective date of his suspension . . . [and] knowingly misrepresented his compliance with the suspension order in his Reply to the Petition to Show Cause filed with this Court." *Id.* at 428. Here Ms. Bitterman was expressly found by the Referee to be not guilty of The Bar's charges of practicing law during her suspension. It was only her "hyper technical" violation of showing her Bar card to non-clients that led to the Referee's recommended discipline in this case.

Likewise dissimilar is *The Florida Bar v. Bauman*, 558 So. 2d 994 (Fla. 1990). In that case, "[w]hile suspended, the Respondent engaged in at least five distinct acts of practicing law . . . was held in contempt by a circuit judge for holding himself out as an attorney [while suspended, y]et subsequent to the contempt citation he again represented clients in court." *Id.* at 994. Ms. Bitterman did not engage in a single act of practicing law during the period of her suspension.

The Bar cites as authority for its position that "[d]isbarment is appropriate where there is a pattern of misconduct and a history of discipline" *The Florida Bar v. Walkden*, 950 So. 2d 407 (Fla. 2007). However, the *Walkden* case involved much more than a history of prior discipline imposed as supporting the sanction of

disbarment. Although the *Walkden* case does state that "[d]isbarment is appropriate where . . . there is a pattern of misconduct and a history of discipline," in addition to prior disciplinary sanctions, this Court noted that "cumulative misconduct *of a similar nature* warrants an even more severe discipline than might dissimilar conduct." *Id.* at 410. Further, the misconduct in *Walkden* included the Respondent's inexcusable acts of brazenly practicing law during a period of suspension, before, during, and after contempt proceedings were initiated in the latest action leading to disbarment. Ms. Bitterman here has not engaged in the practice of law while suspended, and has done nothing that would amount to "misconduct of a similar nature" that would warrant more harsh punishment.

Ms. Bitterman's history of discipline is nothing like that involved in *The Florida Bar v. Forrester*, 916 So. 2d 647 (Fla. 2005). In that case, the prior disciplinary history of the Respondent included improperly representing clients with adverse interests, failing to protect his client's interests, charging illegal, prohibited, or clearly excessive fees, trust account violations, concealing evidence, and testifying misleadingly. This Court found that the Respondent's conduct in prior disciplinary proceedings was "somewhat similar to that involved" in another prior case in that "[b]oth instances display an attitude of 'playing fast and loose' with the truth." *Id.* at 653. Even with that prior disciplinary records, however, this Court stated that "would

likely conclude that an appropriate discipline would be a ninety-one-day suspension."

Id. at 654. However, such a suspension was inadequate because the case had been consolidated with a contempt proceeding involving the respondent's improper practice of law, including direct client contact during a period of prior suspension.

In the present case, on the other hand, Ms. Bitterman was found not to have engaged in improper legal practice during suspension. Nor did her prior disciplinary record include any conduct similar to that involved in the present case.

This case is nothing like *The Florida Bar v. Greene*, 589 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 1991). It was not merely a prior history of disciplinary violations that led to the disbarment order in the *Greene* case. Instead, "it was a history of disciplinary violations stretching back more than twenty years coupled with the respondent's contemptuous action of continuing to practice law during his suspension." *Id.* at 282-83.

# <u>D. Disbarment Unwarranted Under the Aggravating & Mitigating Factors:</u>

As noted above, disbarment is normally inappropriate in a case involving violation of a prior disciplinary order, where the respondent has neither caused injury nor engaged in prior similar misconduct, "absent aggravating . . . circumstances." See Standard 8.0. Although the referee found aggravating circumstances here, the balance of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances do not support disbarment.

The first aggravating factor, "prior disciplinary offenses," does not warrant

disbarment for three reasons. First, Standard 8.1(b) already includes a component for the consideration of prior disciplinary offenses, by expressly limiting the sanction of disbarment to situations in which the respondent had previously been suspended "for the same or similar misconduct." If dissimilar prior misconduct were sufficient as an aggravating factor to warrant disbarment for violating a prior suspension order, then Standard 8.1 would not contain limiting language requiring a finding that the suspension be based on "the same or similar misconduct." The inclusion of such limiting language reflects an intent to restrict consideration of prior disciplinary offenses, as an aggravating factor, to prior similar offenses.

Second, even if the prior dissimilar disciplinary record of Ms. Bitterman is properly considered as an aggravating factor, that record does not support disbarment. That record was largely the result of her psychiatric condition, which is now under control.

As Judge Newman found in his report and recommendation in Case No. SC06-957, Ms. Bitterman "has demonstrated heroic and persistent efforts to combat her disease, and to maintain herself in a functioning manner . . . [, and] that Respondent is doing a great deal to compensate for her problem of major depression." Resp. App.1 at 6. At the final hearing in the present case, Judge Newman found that Ms. Bitterman had continued to make improvements; he stated: "Well I'm pretty impressed with how

well you've done for yourself and I think you are a beautiful person and you're very caring for people." He further found: "You have healed yourself in your mind and in your soul to some extent in Hawaii." Tr. 153.

The third reason the prior disciplinary record aggravator should not warrant disbarment is that the prior record appears to be more serious than it really was. Judge Newman stated at the final hearing in this case that he "was prepared to be more lenient with" Ms. Bitterman in his recommended discipline for the original suspension in Case No. SC03-1370. Tr. 152. His Honor recalled the circumstances under which he was prepared to be more lenient in that case as Ms. Bitterman being "accused of other extraordinarily humanistic and caring behaviors that caused the original suspension." Tr. 153. However, Ms. Bitterman had agreed to the consent judgment providing for the ninety-one day suspension.

Further, as noted above, Ms. Bitterman's most serious disciplinary case, which led to a six month suspension, resulted from a "technical, although not substantial, violation of the probationary terms set forth in the Supreme Court's order dated September 23, 2004 in Supreme Court Case No. SC03-1370." This is not a case in which a bad person is being sanctioned for a pattern of misconduct.

The next aggravating factor found by the referee is "dishonest or selfish motive." His Honor tempered that finding with his comment that Ms. Bitterman was

"motivated by a need to maintain some control over Ms. Fernandez," and that "[t]his was not the act of an attorney against a client." In addition, Judge Newman also considered in mitigation Ms. Bitterman's testimony "that she was attempting to prevent harm to Ms. Fernandez when she retrieved the car from the towing/impound lot," because "it ultimately would have lost all equity due to the garage lien that was accruing, and Ms. Fernandez was in no position to stop this assessment."

Judge Newman is right when he says that "Ms. Bitterman is not an evil person and does not willingly cause harm to anybody." She should not be disbarred.

The next aggravating factor is "pattern of misconduct." As found by the referee, "[t]here were only two acts of Respondent holding herself out as an attorney in this case." The First District in *Frederick v. State*, 556 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) has held that two offenses do not establish a pattern of persistent and continuing criminal activity. *See also McKinney v. State*, 559 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). *But see Lipscomb v. State*, 573 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (two similar offenses establish a pattern of criminal behavior). Therefore, this aggravator is inapplicable.

Next, Judge Newman found that Ms. Bitterman refused to acknowledge the wrongful nature of her conduct. Respondent submits that any refusal to acknowledge any wrongdoing was balanced by Judge Newman's finding that her actions are the result of a "level of humanism that [she] exhibit[s that] rises to the level of love.

Almost a masochistic love." Tr. 128. Ms. Bitterman is doing what she thinks is right, plain and simple. If she has made an error in judgment, it has been out of love, not out of an inability to discern right from wrong. This aggravating factor does not warrant disbarment.

The last aggravating factor is "vulnerability of victim." That factor does not support disbarment. Zadis Fernandez was not a "victim" of Ms. Bitterman using her Bar card to gain entrance to the jail. Ms. Bitterman would have seen her as a regular visitor (as she did two days later, on May 22d) if she had not shown her Bar card to visit her. Nor was Ms. Fernandez a "victim" of Ms. Bitterman showing her Bar card to the personnel at Diaz Towing. Ms. Fernandez was not present then, and the act resulted in the release of the car instead of its forfeiture or any other action to the prejudice of Ms. Fernandez.

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